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BURSOR & FISHER, P.A.

Stefan Bogdanovich (State Bar No. 324525)
1990 North California Blvd., 9th Floor
Walnut Creek, CA 94596

Telephone: (925) 300-4455

Facsimile: (925) 407-2700

E-mail: sbogdanovich@bursor.com

Attorney for Plaintiffs

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

KATIE O’'MALLEY and MEGAN REILLY,
individually and on behalf of all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,
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Plaintiffs Katie O’Malley and Megan Reilly (‘“Plaintiff”) bring this action on behalf of
themselves and all others similarly situated against Williams-Sonoma, Inc. (“Defendant”).
Plaintiffs make the following allegations pursuant to the investigation of their counsel and based
upon information and belief, except as to the allegations specifically pertaining to themselves,
which are based on personal knowledge.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

I. William-Sonoma, Inc., a California-based company which owns and operates a
chain of various online and brick-and-mortar stores, has nickel and dimed online purchasers of
various furniture products on its website in violation of various state consumer protection laws.

2. Whenever a consumer visits www.williams-sonoma.com (“Williams Sonoma”),
www.westelm.com (“West Elm”), or www.potterybarn.com (“Pottery Barn”) (the “Websites™) and
selects an item for purchase, they are not shown the total cost upfront. Instead, consumers are
quoted an artificially low price, only for Defendant to sneak in a mandatory “Processing” fee (the
“Fee”) after consumers input all their shipping and credit card information. This cheap trick has
enabled Defendant to swindle substantial sums of money from its customers.

3. By analogy, if consumers were to walk into a brick-and-mortar furniture store, saw
a couch they like for $999.00, pulled the tag and took it the checkout counter, they would expect to
pay $999.00 to the store, plus sales tax to the government and whatever it cost to ship the product
(if they chose to ship it themselves). If, after consumers swiped their credit card, they noticed in
fine print on the credit card pad that they would al/so be charged an extra “Processing Fee” for the
service of having the tag’s barcode scanned and their payment being processed, they would
reasonably be outraged. And yet this is exactly what Defendant does every day through its online
furniture marketplaces.

4. This practice is known known as drip pricing. “Businesses engage in drip pricing by
advertising products at artificially low headline price and then disclosing additional charges later in
the buying process.” Harvey v. World Mkt., LLC, No. 25-cv-01242-CRB, 2025 WL 1359066, at *1
(N.D. Cal. May 9, 2025). Drip pricing has long violated various state laws. “California banned bait

and switch in consumer transactions when it passed the Consumers Legal Remedies Act (the
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‘CLRA’) in 1970.” Mansfield v. StockX LLC, 802 F. Supp. 3d 1143, 1148 (N.D. Cal. 2025)
(citation omitted). “A common form of bait and switch is drip pricing.” Id.

5. That said, in recent years, given the proliferation of drip pricing on online e-
commerce platforms, various states, including California and Virginia, began passing laws
specifically prohibiting drip pricing. In California for example, legislators expressed concerns that
“Consumers [subject to drip pricing] are often misled and kept from properly assessing the best
prices, thereby hindering the market, especially online.” Mansfield, 802 F. Supp. 3d at 1148
(quoting California Senate Rules Committee Analysis (Sept. 11, 2023) (S.B. 478)). So effective
July 1, 2024, California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A) makes it unlawful to “[a]dvertis[e], display[],
or offer[] a price for a good or service that does not include all mandatory fees or charges other
than either” “[t]axes or fees imposed by a government on the transaction” or “[pJostage or carriage
charges that will be reasonably and actually incurred to ship the physical good to the consumer.” A
few months later, Virginia likewise introduced a bill which “[p]rohibits a supplier, in connection
with a consumer transaction, from advertising or displaying a price for goods or services without
clearly and conspicuously displaying the total price, which shall include all mandatory fees or
surcharges.” 2024 Virginia House Bill No. 2515 Virginia 2025 Regular Session. Effective July 1,
2025, Virginia Code § 59.1-608 makes it unlawful for suppliers in consumer transactions, to
“advertise or display a price for goods or services without clearly and conspicuously displaying the
total price, which shall include all mandatory fees or surcharges.”

6. For these reasons, Plaintiffs seek relief in this action individually and on behalf of
all other purchasers for reasonable attorneys’ costs and fees and injunctive relief under California
Civil Code §§ 1770(a)(29)(A), 1770(a)(9) and statutory damages under Virginia Code §§ 59.1-608,
59.1-200, and 59.1-204.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1332(d) because this is a class action where there are more than 100 members and the aggregate
amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest, fees, and costs, and at least

one member of the putative Class is a citizen of a state different from Defendant.
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8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant is
headquartered in this district, in 3250 Van Ness Avenue, San Francisco, CA 94109.

9. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because Defendant
resides in this District.

PARTIES

10. Plaintiff Katie O’Malley (née Klaus) is an individual consumer who, at all times
material hereto, was a citizen and resident of San Francisco, California.

11.  Plaintiff O’Malley purchased a Hold Everything Glass Liquid Soap & Lotion
Dispenser, Clear, Set of 2 (Product Number 8060942) on July 11, 2025 from Williams-
Sonoma.com. She encountered a purchase flow substantially similar to the one depicted above. She
was initially quoted a price of $139.80 for this item, but after clicking through various screens, and
entered her credit card and personal information, Defendant subtly added a “Shipping &
Processing Fee” of $24.00 to the checkout screen. Defendant never provided a breakdown of how
much of fee went to shipping as opposed to processing on either the checkout screen or subsequent
email receipt. The bundled fee was mandatory because Plaintiff could not purchase the product
from Defendant’s website without paying the fee.

12. At the time Plaintiff O’Malley purchased her product, she was not aware that
Defendant’s practices were unlawful under California law. Plaintiff was not browsing websites in
search of legal violations. Plaintiff was instead browsing because she sincerely intended to
purchase products, and she in fact did purchase a product.

13.  Plaintiff Megan Reilly is an individual consumer who, at all times material hereto,
was a citizen and resident of Virginia Beach, Virginia.

14.  Plaintiff Reilly purchased a Shun Combo Whetstone (Product number 4696798) and
All-Clad D5 Stainless Steel Sauté Pan (Product number 9475917) on July 14, 2025 from Williams-
Sonoma.com. She encountered a purchase flow substantially similar to the one depicted above. She
was initially quoted a price of $93.45 for the Whetstone and $268.45 for the Pan, but after clicking
through various screens, and entered her credit card and personal information, Defendant subtly

added a “Shipping & Processing Fee” of $55.00 to the checkout screen. Defendant never provided
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a breakdown of how much of fee went to shipping as opposed to processing on either the checkout
screen or subsequent email receipt. The bundled fee was mandatory because Plaintiff could not
purchase the product from Defendant’s website without paying the fee.

15. At the time Plaintiff Reilly purchased her products, she was not aware that
Defendant’s practices were unlawful under either California or Virginia law. Plaintiff was not
browsing websites in search of legal violations. Plaintiff was instead browsing because she
sincerely intended to purchase products, and she in fact did purchase a product.

16. Defendant Williams-Sonoma, Inc. (“Defendant”) is a California corporation with its
principal place of business in San Francisco, California. Through its many brands, including West
Elm, Williams Sonoma, and Pottery Barn, Defendant offers for purchase cookware, furniture, and
other home goods throughout the United States, including in the state of California. Defendant
owns and operates the universally accessible, interactive websites www.williams-sonoma.com,
www.westelm.com, and www.potterybarn.com (the “Websites”), which accept orders from all the
United States and deliver products to all the states, including California, as part of its regular
course of business.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

California’s Honest Pricing Law

17. Effective July 1, 2024, California enacted California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A),
which provides that “[a]dvertising, displaying, or offering a price for a good or service that does
not include all mandatory fees or charges other than either ... [t]axes or fees imposed by a
government on the transaction[]” and “[pJostage or carriage charges that will be reasonably and
actually incurred to ship the physical goods to the consumer[]” is unlawful.

18.  According to the California Attorney General’s Office, “[a] business can exclude
shipping charges, but not handling charges” or other incidental items bundled with shipping.' “Like

any other mandatory fee or charge, a handling charge must be included in the advertised price.”

! OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, CAL. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, SB 478 Frequently Asked Questions,
https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/attachments/press-docs/SB%20478%20F AQ%20%28B%29.pdf.

21d.
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To that end, the only non-governmental charge a business can impose at a later stage of the
transaction is “Postage or carriage charges that will be reasonably and actually incurred to ship the
physical good to the consumer.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(ii).

19.  As Senator Bill Dodd, a co-author of SB 478, stated in describing this new law:
“Californians are fed up with dishonest fees being tacked on to seemingly everything ... It’s an
underhanded trick to boost corporate profits at the expense of those who can least afford it. Our bill
will end these unfair practices and put the consumer first, leveling the playing field for reputable
businesses that advertise the real price up front.””

20. And according to Attorney General of California Rob Bonta, “[w]e can and should
stop the fleecing of consumers. We can and should stop the imbalance in the marketplace.”
Virginia’s Mandatory Fee and Surcharge Disclosure Law

21.  In May 2, 2025, Virginia passed Senate Bills Nos. 1212 and 2515, which amended
Virginia’s Consumer Protection Act to add a new Chapter to the Act, entitled Mandatory Fees or
Surcharges. Va. Code § 59.1-607 et seq. The amendment became effective on July 1, 2025.

22. The law provides that “No supplier shall, in connection with a consumer transaction,
advertise or display a price for goods or services without clearly and conspicuously displaying the
total price, which shall include all mandatory fees or surcharges.” Va. Code § 59.1-608. The law
defines “Mandatory fees or surcharges” to “includes any additional fee or surcharge that must be
paid in order to purchase the good or service being advertised.” Va. Code § 59.1-607. Excluded
from this definition are “(i) taxes or fees imposed on the consumer by a government or
government-approved entity or assessment fees of a government-created special district or program
paid to the government or government-approved entity or (ii) reasonable postage or shipping fees.”
Id. “Supplier” is defined as “a means a seller... that advertises, solicits, or engages in consumer

transactions.” Va. Code Ann. §§ 59.1-607 and 59.1-198. “Consumer transaction,” in turn, “means:

3 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, CALIFORNIA DEP’T OF JUSTICE, Attorney General Bonta
Calls for California Legislature to Ban Hidden Fees (AKA Junk Fees) (May 16, 2023),
https://oag.ca.gov/news/press-releases/attorney-general-bonta-calls-california-legislature-ban-
hidden-fees-aka-junk (last visited Dec. 24, 2024).

‘.
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(1) the advertisement, sale ... or offering for sale... of goods or services to be used primarily for
personal, family, or household purposes.” /d.
Williams Sonoma’s Hidden Fee

23.  Williams Sonoma has a homepage where shoppers can browse for items.

| Q] WILLIAMS SONOMA PR J .

4 AlSous Chef Lunar New Year valent Day Easte Recipes & Menus Entertaining & Design Inspiratis Brands Collaboratic Wedding Registry WILLIAMS SONOMA HOME

LUNAR NEW YEAR IS FEBRUARY 17

[.ucky

Celebrations

Figure 1
24.  When a shopper browses through various categories of items, the advertised prices
of each item is shown. For example, when browsing for baking and pastry tools, a shopper will see

that the Olivewood Bench Scraper is offered for $24.95—without any fees or surcharges.

Baking & Pastry Tools

1B

villiams
$24.95

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT —JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 6
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25.  After a user clicks on an item from this general page, that same advertised price is

again displayed on the individual item pages.

Williams Sonoma Olivewood Bench Scraper

$24.95
QA

Exclusive  Best Seller

@ RESERVE Join for free shipping ©

- 1 +

SKU: 648856

Delivery & Pickup Options

@ Ship To Home
10 95050

Ship To Store

Arrives Feb. 6-10

Pickup Feb. 10-17

at Williams Sonoma | Valley Fair Mall

You May Also Need:

O

z

Brotform Proofing Basket, Round, 11°
$39.95

Figure 3

26. The same advertised price is again displayed when the shopper adds an item to their

shopping cart.

=

T
A
=

&, share

Exclusive  Best Seller

@ RESERVE Join for free ship

-1+

SKU: 648856
Delivery & Pickup Options

@ Ship To Home
10 25050

Ship To Store
at Williams Sonoma | Vi

You May Also Need:

[m]

W 32 people recently added this to

]
-

Added To Cart: 1 Item X

Williams Sonoma Olivewood Bench Scraper
Qy:1
\ Price: $24.95 each

Last Chance for the Season

The Original Williams Sonoma

|  Peppermint Bark
@ o i

530, G 1

L
Your Cart (1 Item) $24.95
Subtotal does not include shipping and processing. ift wiap, discounts ortax

VIEW CART & CHECKOUT

CONTINUE SHOPPING

Customers Also Bought

EEZETE © V)

Williams Sonoma Williams Sonoma Williams Son
Stainless-Steel Bench  Olivewood Dough Olivewood B
Scraper Whisk iscie

$9.95 $34.95

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT —JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
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27.  The same advertised price is once again displayed in the cart itself.

*4 Al Sous Chef unar New Y valentine's Day aster pes & Menus

New Cookware Cooks' Tools Cutlery Electrics Bakeware Food Tabletop & Bar

Sign-in or create an account to earn rewards, track your order history and save your information for faster checkout.

Shipping
Williams Sonoma Olivewood Bench Scraper

£79-648856

1

Undate

x Remove 4 Save for Later

Delivery Estimate
Order now for delivery Feb. 6 - Feb. 10 t0 ZIP 95050
Switch 1o Pickup in Store

@RESERVE Join for free 0]

Over 30 people recently added this to their cart

Home Essentials

Shopping Cart b share

$24.95 Item Total

$24.95

WILLIAMS SONOMA BB, SO . ¥

WILLIAMS SONOMA HOME

Outdoor & Garden Furniture Holidays Gifts

Order Summary

Subtotal (1 Item ) $24.95

Total does not include shipping, gift wrap, discounts & tax. Final total
shown in checkout

- Earn up 10 $2 (10% back in rewards)' on 10day's purchase
+ Free Standard Shipping’ Learn More

See if you're pre-approved in minutes - with no Impact to
your credit score!

' ter

th your purchase you agree 10 ous
icy

Check out with & Pay

PayPal Checkout

Pay with affiem) on orders over $50. See if you qualify

Our Shopping cart reflects each item's most recent price. Price ang
availability I subject to change.

e

Figure 5

28. It isn’t until a shopper goes to checkout, and after the shopper has entered their

shipping and payment information, that Defendant’s bundled “Shipping & Processing” fee is

disclosed.

WILLIAMS SONOMA

1. Shipping Edit
- -

2. Delivery & Gift Options Edit
Shipping

ESTIMATED DELIVERY DATE

Feb. 6 - Feb. 10

@l Williams Sonoma Olivewood Bench Scraper $24.95
s QY 1

@ RESERVE Join for free shipping @

™ cart(1)

Order Summary

© vourn erved for 19:48

v

. onoma Olivewcod Bench  $24.95

; arv:1

Subtotal $24%5
Shipping & Processing L
Ta $3.65
Total $37.60

Place Order

3. Payment h”
WILLIAMS SONOMA
Billing Address Same As Shipping Address Edit R E S E R v E
- ) ay for H rand receve

Figure 6

29. In other words, the total price is never disclosed before a user reaches the final step

in the checkout process prior to placing an order. Thus, Defendant is “[a]dvertising, displaying, or

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT —JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
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offering a price for a good ... that does not include all mandatory fees or charges” in violation of
California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A).

30.  The Fee is mandatory because there is no way to purchase a product on the website
without paying the Fee. For many items, “Ship to Home” is the only option a consumer can select.
And even for items which offer a “Ship to Store” option, Defendant will s#i// charge a consumer a

“Shipping & Processing” fee, even though the consumer will go the store to pick up the item.

1. Shipping Address Order Summary

Shipping To Williams Sonoma | Valley Fair Mall o Your items are being reserved for 19:31
2855 Stevens Creek Blvd, Space B313, Santa ...

= Your Order (1 Item)

2 De|ivery & Glft Options Edit Williams Sonoma Olivewood Bench  $24.95
o Scraper
Qry:1
Shipping To Williams Sonoma | Valley Fair Mall
We will notify you when your order is ready for pickup
Subtotal $24.95
ESTIMATED READY FOR PICKUP Shipping & Processing $9
Feb. 17 - Feb. 24
Tax $3.18
Williams Sonoma Olivewood Bench Scraper $24.95
Item # 79-648856 Total $371 3
QTY 1

By placing an order, you are agreeing to our Privacy Policy
and Terms of Use.

Q¥ RESERVE Join for free shipping (i)
Place Order

%
3. Payment H’

WILLIAMS SONOMA

Billing Address Stefan Bogdanovich Edit R E S E R V E

1990 N California Blvd Ste 940, Walnut Cre...
(714) 360-5487

Join today for $99 a year and receive
complimentary virtual classes ($80 value)

Figure 7
31.  The “Shipping & Processing” fee is not a “[t]ax[] or other fee[] imposed by the
government on the transaction.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(1).
32.  The Processing portion of the “Shipping & Processing” fee is not a “postage or
carriage charge[] that will be reasonably and actually incurred to ship the physical goods to the
consumer.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(ii). Although bundled with a legitimate

Shipping fee, the Processing fee is not part of the postage or carriage charge. Discovery will reveal

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT —JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 9
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what percentage of the bundled “Shipping & Processing” fee is due to the processing fee. A
processing fee is like a handling fee, which “[1]ike any other mandatory fee or charge ... must be
included in the advertised price.””
West Elm’s Hidden Fee

33.  West Elm’s website—also owned and operated by Defendant—also allows users to

browse items. For example, if a shopper is looking for end tables, they may view this page.

Nightstands

[[] Delivered in1-4 weeks  Nightstand Style >~ Furniture Maferial >+ | Wood Finish ~  Width »  Shape ~  Drawers | 1| Allfilters Sort Recommended

NEW
Rorie Mini Nightstand (16")

$449 — 3898

Rorie Nightstand (22')

Claremont Round Nightstand (15") $599 — $198

$299 — $598

Figure 8
/4
/4
/4
/4
/4
/4
/4
/4
/4

5> OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, CAL. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, SB 478 Frequently Asked Questions,
https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/attachments/press-docs/SB%20478%20F AQ%20%28B%29.pdf.
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34.  If ashopper selects a particular item from this general page, they are taken to an
individual product page. On that product page, if the consumer selects to purchase an “individual,”

product, the advertised price of $449 is displayed—without all mandatory fees or surcharges.

FURNITURE > NIGHTSTANDS

NEW CONTRACT GRADE

Rorie Mini Nightstand (16")

v

$449
Select Quantity: Individual

Individual Set of 2

Delivery & Pickup Options

® Ship fo Home Artivos Fob. 27 - Mar. 3
o 95050

Need it sooner? SEE SIMILAR READY TO SHIP ITEMS

[] Add 3-year Alistate Profection Plan for $64.99 WHAT'S COVERED

o $449

ADD TO CART

Seo if you'e pre-approved — you could oam up fo $44 (10% back in rowards)
today with a new West Eim crodit card. LEARN MORE

AS low a5 S41/month o« O% APR with affem. PREQUALIEY NOW

’ (©) ADD TO REGISTRY

Figure 9

35.  The advertised price is again displayed when a shopper adds the item to their cart.

SHOP OUR LATEST COLLECTION SHOP IN-STOCK FURNITURE + SHOP ALL SALE & CLEARANCE +

Added To Cart: 1 ltem A
FURNITURE » NIGHTSTANDS
Jlot HEWS CONIRACEG Rorie 16' Mini Nightstand,
I Rorie Mini M Daraant
I Qty: 1

Price: $449 each

' $449

Select Quantity: Individua

Set of 2 VIEW CART & CHECKOUT

Delivery & Pickup ! PayPal checkout
@ Ship to Home CONTINUE SHOPPING
0 95050

| Need it sconer? SEE SIMILAR READY TO SHIP ITEMS

‘ [[]Add 3-year Alistate Protection Plan for $64.99 WHAT'S COVERED

g (A | $449

i ADD TO CART

[ See if you're pre-approved — you could earn up o 344 (10% back in rewards)'

today with a new Wost Elm crodif card. LEARN MORE
As low a3 $41/month or 0% APR with affiem) PREQUALIFY NOW

s

| Q) ADD TO REGISTRY |

Figure 10
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36.  The advertised price is again displayed when a shopper goes to their cart.

SHOP OUR LATEST COLLECTION SHOP IN-STOCK FURNITURE

Shopping Cart  aswe

Ship to Home

Rorie 16" Mini Nightstand, Dark Walnut
46067283

b Order now for delivery Feb. 27 - Mar. 3 fo zip code: 95050

[ Add 3-year Alistate Protection Plan $64.99
What's covered

4 Save For Later X Remove

o () ) A=)
t elm & =
Q| west e
Inspiral C aboration: Sustainability Free Design Serv s Registry
New year, new arrivals Arrives in 1-4 wooks Up to 50% off

SHOP ALL SALE & CLEARANCE

Sign-in or create an account fo eam rewards, frack your order history and save your information for faster checkout

Order summary

Sublotal ( 1ifem ) $449
3449 N

Hom prico
3449

do shipping, giff wrop, discounts & fax.Final

i fo $44 (10% back in rewards) on
with o new West £lm credit

xrchie ou e o s o
Check out with & Pay

PayPal checkout

As low as $41/month or 0% APR with affirm\ Proqualify now

Figure 11

37. It isn’t until a shopper goes to checkout, and after the shopper has entered their

shipping and payment information, that Defendant’s bundled “Shipping & Processing” fee is

disclosed.

west elm
1. Shipping Address Edit
o _
2. Delivery & Gift Options Edit
Shipping
ESTIMATED DELIVERY DATE Standard (3 day select)
Feb. 26 - Mar. 2
Rorie 16" Mini Nightstand, Dark Walnut $449
Hem #71-6067283
QrY 1
3. Payment
Billing Address Same As Shipping Address Edit

Promo Code +

Apply Key Rewards and Gift Cards +

Order Summary

— Your Order (1 ltem)

Rorie 16" Mini Nightstand, Dark ~ $448
Walnut
arv:1

Subtotal $449
Shipping & Processing $44.90
Tax $53.09
Total $546.99

$44 (10% back in
B rewards) on today's
'

proved in
minutes - with no impact to
your credit score!

LEARN MORE

Figure 12

38.  In other words, the total price is never disclosed before a user reaches the final step

in the checkout process prior to placing an order. Thus, Defendant is “[a]dvertising, displaying, or

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT —JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
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offering a price for a good ... that does not include all mandatory fees or charges” in violation of
California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A).

39.  The Fee is mandatory because there is no way to purchase a product on the website
without paying the Fee. For many items, “Ship to Home” is the only option. See Figure 10. And
even for others where a pick up in store option is available, Defendant still charges a “Shipping &
Processing Fee.” See Figures 3 and 7.

40. The Fee is not a “[t]ax[] or other fee[] imposed by the government on the
transaction.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(i).

41.  The Fee is not a “postage or carriage charge[] that will be reasonably and actually
incurred to ship the physical goods to the consumer.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(1).
Although bundled with a legitimate Shipping fee, the Processing fee is not part of the postage or
carriage charge. Discovery will reveal what percentage of the bundled “Shipping & Processing” fee
is due to the processing fee. A processing fee is like a handling fee, which “[l]ike any other
mandatory fee or charge ... must be included in the advertised price.”

Pottery Barn’s Hidden Fee
42.  Pottery Barn’s website—also owned and operated by Defendant—also allows users

to browse items. For example, if a shopper is looking for baskets, they may view this page.

< Storage

Baskets & Bins  7iems Products  Collections

Filter Tt Free Pickup | In Stock & Ready to Ship Featured ~

Beachcomber Handwoven Rectangular Baskets TavaHandwoven LiddedBaskets ~ NewColors
$129-5299 $99-5199 Coil Tote Basket

Figure 13

® OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, CAL. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, SB 478 Frequently Asked Questions,
https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/attachments/press-docs/SB%20478%20F AQ%20%28B%29.pdf.
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43.  Ifashopper views the individual product page for the Tava Handwoven Lidded

Baskets and selects the smallest size, the advertised price of $169 is displayed.

< Storage < Baskets &Bins

O Tava Handwoven Lidded Baskets
$99 - 5199

Low-21.75"Wx8"H
‘Whitewash

sku Added To Cart: 11tem

Low Lidded,

Tova ey
Qty1
: Price: $169 each

*  Your Cart (1 Item)

,  YouMayAlso Like

Savannah

$49.50-$79.50 $189

Tava Bath »
Sale $25-$79.50 Seagrass Lidded Baskets  Letter File Bo:

Figure 15

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
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45.  The advertised price is again displayed when a shopper goes to their cart.

Pottory Barm Businoss toBusinoss Baby Kids Toon Dorm Wilklams Sonoma Willams Sonoma Homo  West Elm  Rojvenation Mark & Graham  GroenRow B9 Zorointorost

Q POTTERYDBARN 2, W2 L

$169

Inspiration Shop by Style Shop by Room Valentine'sDay ~ Easter  Collaborations Free Design Services Contract Grade Wedding Registry
New Furniture Outdoor Bedding Bath Lighting Rugs Windows Pillows & Decor Art & Mirrors Tabletop & Bar Storage Holidays
Sign-in or create an account to earn rewards, track your order history and save your information for faster checkout. O I'd er S umma ry
X Subtotal (1Item)
2
Shopping Cart &y share Total doo ot includeshifging it seap ducounts  ax Fnalfotal shown in
chockout
Ship to Home
$16 (1 today's pr
anew Pottery Barn credit card ' Learn More
Tava Woven Utility Basket, Low Lidded, Whitewash
#84-4779722 See if you're pre-spprovec

credit score.

$169 Item Total

y R
1 S169 privacy policy.

X Remove & SaveforLater
PayPal Checkout
./ InStock & Ready to Ship Order now for delivery Feb. 9 - Feb. 11 to ZIP code: 95050 Aslow as $16/month or 0% APR with affirm\. Proqualify now

Switch to In-Store Pickup

subject to change.

o Check out with &Pay

Our Shopping cart reflacts each itom's most recent price. Prico and availabilty is

v

Favorites

Gifts

Cart(1)

Sale

Figure 16

46.  Itisn’t until a shopper goes to checkout, and after the shopper has entered their

shipping and payment information, that Defendant’s bundled “Shipping & Processing” fee is

disclosed. See Figure 17 (next page).

POTTERYBARN w corc)

1. Shipping Bt Order Summary

Shipping To

0, CA 945 w $169

2. Delivery & Gift Options Edit

Ship to Home ¢

ESTIMATED DELIVERY DATE
Feb.9 - Feb. Tl
Total $214.86

ility Basket, Low Lidded, $169
== er. you are agree
Place Order
3. Payment B Youcouldearnupto
$16 (10% back in
Billing Address  Same As Shipping Address Edit g rowards) on today’s
purchase.'
See if you're pre-approved in
Promo Code + minutes - with no impact to your

credit scorel

Figure 17
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47.  In other words, the total price is never disclosed before a user reaches the final step
in the checkout process prior to placing an order. Thus, Defendant is “[a]dvertising, displaying, or
offering a price for a good ... that does not include all mandatory fees or charges” in violation of
California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A).

48. The Fee is mandatory because there is no way to purchase a product on the website
without paying the Fee. For many items, “Ship to Home” is the only option. See Figure 15. And
even for others where a pick up in store option is available, Defendant still charges a “Shipping &
Processing Fee.” See Figures 3 and 7.

49. The Fee is not a “[t]ax[] or other fee[] imposed by the government on the
transaction.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(i).

50. The Fee is not a “postage or carriage charge[] that will be reasonably and actually
incurred to ship the physical goods to the consumer.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(1).
Although bundled with a legitimate Shipping fee, the Processing fee is not part of the postage or
carriage charge. Discovery will reveal what percentage of the bundled “Shipping & Processing” fee
is due to the processing fee. A processing fee is like a handling fee, which “[l]ike any other
mandatory fee or charge ... must be included in the advertised price.”’

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

51.  Nationwide Class: Plaintiffs O’Malley and Reilly seek to represent a class defined
as all individuals in the United States who purchased items using Defendant’s websites on or after
February 11, 2023 and paid a “Shipping & Processing” fee (the “Nationwide Class”). Excluded
from the Nationwide Class is any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest, and officers
or directors of Defendant.

52. California Class: Plaintiff O’Malley seeks to represent a class defined as all
individuals in California who purchased items using Defendant’s websites on or after February 11,

2023 and paid a “Shipping & Processing” fee (the “California Class”). Excluded from the

7 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, CAL. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, SB 478 Frequently Asked Questions,
https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/attachments/press-docs/SB%20478%20F AQ%20%28B%29.pdf.
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California Class is any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest, and officers or
directors of Defendant.

53. Nationwide Honest Pricing Law Subclass: Plaintiffs O’Malley and Reilly also
seek to represent a subclass defined as all individuals in the United States who purchased items
using Defendant’s website on or after July 1, 2024 and paid a “Shipping & Processing” fee (the
“Nationwide Subclass”). Excluded from the Nationwide Honest Pricing Law Subclass is any entity
in which Defendant has a controlling interest, and officers or directors of Defendant.

54. California Honest Pricing Law Subclass: Plaintiff O’Malley also seeks to
represent a subclass defined as all individuals in California who purchased items using Defendant’s
website on or after July 1, 2024 and paid a “Shipping & Processing” fee (the “California
Subclass™). Excluded from the California Honest Pricing Law Subclass is any entity in which
Defendant has a controlling interest, and officers or directors of Defendant.

55.  Virginia Class: Plaintiff Reilly seeks to represent a class defined as all individuals
in Virginia who purchased items using Defendant’s websites on or after February 11, 2024 and
paid a “Shipping & Processing” fee (the “Virginia Class”). Excluded from the Virginia, Class is
any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest, and officers or directors of Defendant.

56.  Virginia Mandatory Fee and Surcharge Disclosure Subclass: Plaintiff Reilly
seeks to represent a class defined as all individuals in Virginia who purchased items using
Defendant’s websites on or after July 1, 2025 and paid a “Shipping & Processing” fee (the
“Virginia Subclass”). Excluded from the Virginia Subclass is any entity in which Defendant has a
controlling interest, and officers or directors of Defendant.

57.  Members of the Classes are so numerous that their individual joinder herein is
impracticable. Members of the Classes likely number in the thousands. The precise number of
Class members and their identities are unknown to Plaintiffs at this time but may be determined
through discovery. Members of the Classes may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail,
email, and/or publication through the distribution records of Defendant.

58. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Classes and

predominate over questions affecting only individual members. Common legal and factual
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questions include, but are not limited to, whether Defendant failed to include all mandatory fees or
charges when advertising, displaying, or offering a price for the items for purchase, in violation of
California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A), and whether Defendant advertised goods or services with
intent not to sell them as advertised, in violation of California Civil Code § 1770(a)(9). The claims
of the named Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the Classes in that the named Plaintiffs and the
Classes sustained damages as a result of Defendant’s uniform wrongful conduct, based upon
Defendant failing to include all mandatory fees or charges in the advertising, displaying, or
offering a price for the items, throughout the online item purchase process.

59.  Plaintiff O’Malley is an adequate representative of the Classes because her interest
do not conflict with the interests of the Classes and members she seeks to represent, she has
retained competent counsel experienced in prosecuting class actions, and she intends to prosecute
this action vigorously. The interests of members of the Classes will be fairly and adequately
protected by Plaintiff and her counsel.

60.  Plaintiff Reilly is an adequate representative of the Classes because her interest do
not conflict with the interests of the Classes and members she seeks to represent, she has retained
competent counsel experienced in prosecuting class actions, and she intends to prosecute this
action vigorously. The interests of members of the Classes will be fairly and adequately protected
by Plaintiff and her counsel.

61. The class mechanism is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient
adjudication of the claims of members of the Classes. Each individual member of the Classes may
lack the resources to undergo the burden and expense of individual prosecution of the complex and
extensive litigation necessary to establish Defendant’s liability. Individualized litigation increases
the delay and expense to all parties and multiplies the burden on the judicial system presented by
the complex legal and factual issues of this case. Individualized litigation also presents a potential
for inconsistent or contradictory judgments. In contrast, the class action device presents far fewer
management difficulties and provides the benefits off single adjudication, economy of scale, and

comprehensive supervision by a single court on the issue of Defendant’s liability. Class treatment
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of the liability issues will ensure that all claims and claimants are before this Court for consistent

adjudication of the liability issues.

COUNTI
California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)
(On Behalf of the Nationwide and California Subclasses)

62.  Plaintiffs repeat the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set
forth herein.

63.  Plaintiffs bring this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the
Nationwide Subclass against Defendant. Plaintiff O’Malley separately brings this claim
individually and on behalf of the members of the California Subclass against Defendant.

64. Defendant owns, operates, or controls the Williams Sonoma, West Elm, and Pottery
Barn Websites, which are all places where consumers can purchase various items for personal and
household use.

65.  Defendant violated California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A) by “[a]dvertising,
displaying, or offering a price for a good or service that does not include all mandatory fees or
charges” on the product screens depicted in this complaint.

66. Defendant’s “Shipping & Processing” fee is a “mandatory fee[] or charge[]” that
must be paid in order to purchase the item. Cal. Civ. Code§ 1770(a)(29)(A). What is more, for in-
store pick up transactions, Defendant’s Shipping fee is not a “[pJostage or carriage charge[] that
will be reasonably and actually incurred to ship the physical good to the consumer.” Cal. Civ.
Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(i1) (emphasis added). For starters, if a consumer selects the in-store pick-up
option, the physical good is not being shipped “to the consumer,” but to Defendant’s store. A
consumer still needs to get into a car, pick up the item, and take it back to them. Nor is defendant
shipping fee for in-store pick-ups “reasonable.” After all, reasonable consumers that purchase items
in stores almost never pay a shipping fee, even though virtually every item in the store’s inventory
was necessarily manufactured elsewhere and shipped to the store before being offered for sale.
Moreover, it is unclear whether an item that is being selected for pick up at one of Defendant’s
brick-and-mortar stores needed to be shipped to the store prior to the consumer choosing to buy it,

or whether it was already in stock at that physical location when the consumer placed her order.
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67.  Plaintiffs and Subclass members were harmed because they paid Defendant’s
unlawful Processing fee. Because the total cost was not disclosed to Plaintiffs and Subclass
members at the beginning of the purchase process, the resulting Processing fee that was applied
was unlawful pursuant to California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A).

68.  Plaintiffs and Subclass Members were also harmed by not having the total cost of
their products disclosed upfront at the start of the purchase process. By not knowing the total cost
before selecting a product for purchase from Defendant, Plaintiff and Subclass Members could not
shop around for items at other retailers like Wayfair or Crate & Barrel, to name a few. As such,
Plaintiffs and Subclass Members had no way of knowing whether they were getting the best deal
that their money could buy. By hiding its Processing Fee, Defendant was able to reduce price
competition and cause consumers like Plaintiffs and Subclass members to overpay.

69. Plaintiffs and Subclass members relied on Defendant’s false and misleading
representations that the cost of its products did not include the Processing Fee in choosing to
purchase its products.

70. On behalf of themselves and members of the Nationwide and California Subclasses,
Plaintiffs seek to enjoin the unlawful acts and practices described herein and reasonable attorneys’

fees. See Cal. Civ. Code § 1780.

COUNT 11
California Civil Code § 1770(a)(9)
(On Behalf of the Nationwide and California Classes)

71.  Plaintiffs repeat the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set
forth herein.

72.  Plaintiffs bring this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the
Nationwide Class against Defendant. Plaintiff O’Malley separately brings this claim individually
and on behalf of the members of the California Subclass against Defendant.

73.  Defendant violated California Civil Code § 1770(a)(9) by “[a]dvertising goods ...
with intent not to sell them as advertised.” Specifically, Defendant advertised and expressly
represented the price of their products with intent not to sell them at the advertised price.

74.  Plaintiffs Class Members were harmed because they paid Defendant’s unlawful
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Processing fee. This fee was rendered unlawful by Defendant’s failure to timely disclose it.

75.  Plaintiffs and Class Members were also harmed by not having the total cost of their
products disclosed upfront at the start of the purchase process. By not knowing the total cost before
selecting a product for purchase from Defendant, Plaintiffs and Class Members could not shop
around for items at other retailers like Wayfair or Crate & Barrel, to name a few. As such,
Plaintiffs and Class Members had no way of knowing whether they were getting the best deal their
money could buy. By hiding its Processing Fee, Defendant was able to reduce price competition
and cause consumers like Plaintiffs and Class members to overpay.

76.  Plaintiffs and Class members relied on Defendant’s false and misleading
representations of the advertised cost of its products in choosing to purchase its products.

77.  As detailed in the body of this Complaint, Defendant has repeatedly engaged in
conduct deemed a violation of the CLRA and has made representations regarding the price of the
items on its Website which are false due to the uniform imposition of the Fee described herein.
Indeed, Defendant concealed the true price of the items, and the true nature of the Fee it was
charging on each purchase, from Plaintiffs and Class members.

78.  No reasonable consumer would expect the price advertised by Defendant to include
an unlawful Fee in addition to lawful sales tax and shipping costs. See Watson v. Crumbl LLC, 736
F. Supp. 3d 827, 845-46 (E.D. Cal. 2024) (“Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged [Defendant]
advertises one price for its products while also surreptitiously charging a higher price by adding the
Service Fee. Thus, Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged [Defendant] advertises their goods with the
intent not to sell them as advertised.”).

79.  Defendant does not provide services that would lead reasonable consumers to
expect the imposition of the Processing Fee, and Defendant does not disclose the Processing Fee
anywhere before customers reach the screen depicted in Figures 6, 11, and 16 of this complaint.
Further, reasonable consumers would likewise not expect to be charged a separate Shipping Fee if
they selected the in-store pick-up option. After all, reasonable consumers that purchase items in
stores almost never pay a shipping fee, even though virtually every item in the store’s inventory

was necessarily manufactured elsewhere and shipped to the store before being offered for sale.
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80.  Defendant willfully employed a scheme designed to advertise a price that is not the
true cost of its products, and did so willfully, wantonly, and with reckless disregard for the truth.

81. On behalf of themselves and members of the Nationwide and California Classes,
Plaintiffs seek to enjoin the unlawful acts and practices described herein and reasonable attorneys’

fees. See Cal. Civ. Code § 1780.

COUNT 111
Virginia Code § 56.1-608
(On Behalf of the Virginia Subclass)

82.  Plaintiff Reilly repeats the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if
fully set forth herein.

83.  Plaintiff Reilly brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the
Virginia Subclass against Defendant.

84.  Defendant violated Virginia Code § 59.1-608 by “advertis[ing] or display[ing] a
price for goods or services without clearly and conspicuously displaying the total price, which shall
include all mandatory fees or surcharges.” Specifically, on various screens prior to the checkout,
Defendant advertised and displayed the price of their products without including its Processing
fee—which was mandatory on all transactions. What is more, for in-store pick up transactions,
Defendant’s Shipping fee was likewise a “mandatory fee[] or surcharge” the term is defined under
Virginia Code § 59.1-607. The shipping fee Defendant levies on products to be picked up in its
physical stores is not a “reasonable postage or shipping fee.” Id. (emphasis added). As noted,
reasonable consumers that purchase items in stores almost never pay a shipping fee, even though
virtually every item in the store’s inventory was necessarily manufactured elsewhere and shipped
to the store before being offered for sale.

85.  Plaintiff Reilly and Virginia Subclass Members were harmed because they paid
Defendant an unlawful Processing fee. This fee was rendered unlawful by Defendant’s failure to
timely disclose it.

86.  Plaintiff Reilly and Virginia Subclass Members were also harmed by not having the
total cost of their products disclosed upfront at the start of the purchase process. By not knowing

the total cost before selecting a product for purchase from Defendant, Plaintiff Reilly and Virginia
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Subclass Members could not shop around for items at other retailers like Wayfair or Crate &
Barrel, to name a few. As such, Plaintiff Reilly and Virginia Subclass Members had no way of
knowing whether they were getting the best deal their money could buy. By hiding its Processing
Fee, Defendant was able to reduce price competition and cause consumers like Plaintiff Reilly and
Virginia Subclass members to overpay.

87.  Because Defendant violated Virginia’s Mandatory Fees or Surcharges Disclosures
Act, it committed “a prohibited practice under the provisions of § 59.1-200 and shall be subject to
any and all of the enforcement provisions of the Virginia Consumer Protection Act.” Va. Code
§59.1-610.

88. On behalf of herself and members of the Virginia Subclass, Plaintiff Reilly seeks to

obtain statutory damages and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. See Va. Code §59.1-204.

COUNT IV
Virginia Code § 56.1-200
(On Behalf of the Virginia Class)

89.  Plaintiff Reilly repeats the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if
fully set forth herein.

90.  Plaintiff Reilly brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the
Virginia Class against Defendant.

91.  Defendant violated Virginia Code § 59.1-200(8), which prohibits companies like
Defendant from “Advertising goods or services... with intent not to sell at the price or upon the
terms advertised.” Here, Defendant advertised its products for purchase on a website with prices
that excluded its “Shipping & Processing” fee even though it knew perfect well that regardless of
whether they selected the Ship To Home or Ship To Store option, they would charge them that fee
anyway.

92.  Plaintiff Reilly and Virginia Class Members were harmed because they paid
Defendant an unlawful Shipping & Processing fee. This fee was rendered unlawful by Defendant’s
failure to timely disclose it.

93.  Plaintiff Reilly and Virginia Class Members were also harmed by not having the

total cost of their products disclosed upfront at the start of the purchase process. By not knowing
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the total cost before selecting a product for purchase from Defendant, Plaintiff Reilly and Virginia
Class Members could not shop around for items at other retailers like Wayfair or Crate & Barrel, to
name a few. As such, Plaintiff Reilly and Virginia Class Members had no way of knowing whether
they were getting the best deal their money could buy. By hiding its Processing Fee, Defendant was
able to reduce price competition and cause consumers like Plaintiff Reilly and Virginia Class
members to overpay.

94. On behalf of herself and members of the Virginia Subclass, Plaintiff Reilly seeks to
obtain statutory damages and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. See Va. Code §59.1-204.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the members of the Classes, prays

for judgement as follows:

A. For an order certifying the Classes and Subclasses under Rule 23 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure and naming Plaintiffs as representative of the Classes and
Subclasses and Plaintiffs’ attorneys as Class Counsel to represent the Classes and

Subclasses;

B. For an order declaring that Defendant’s conduct violates the statutes referenced
herein;

C. For an order finding in favor of Plaintiff and the Classes and Subclasses on all

counts asserted herein;

D. For compensatory and statutory damages in amounts to be determined by the Court
and/or jury;

E. For prejudgment interest on all amounts awarded,

F. For an order of restitution and all other forms of equitable monetary relief;

G. For injunctive relief as pleaded or as the Corut may deem proper; and

H. For an order awarding Plaintiff and the Classes their reasonable attorneys’ fees and

expenses and costs of suit.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all claims so triable.

Dated: February 11, 2026 BURSOR & FISHER, P.A.

By: __/s/ Stefan Bogdanovich
Stefan Bogdanovich
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Stefan Bogdanovich (State Bar No. 324525)
1990 North California Blvd., 9th Floor
Walnut Creek, CA 94596

Telephone: (925) 300-4455

Facsimile: (925) 407-2700

E-mail: sbogdanovich@bursor.com

Attorney for Plaintiffs
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